RECEIVED

Feb 15 2024

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Fairfield County

Honorable Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

TIMOTHY JAMES THOMPSON,

APPELLANT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2022-000397

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the court erred by allowing state's witness Tommy Bell to testify remotely, where he was located in Fairfield County where appellant's trial was being held, since appellant was entitled to live confrontation with this key state's witness?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted at the December 8, 2020, term of the Fairfield County Grand Jury for the offenses of the murder of Bruce Gibbs and hit-and-run involving death as to the victim Bruce Gibbs. R. 416. Appellant's case was called to trial on March 21, 2022, before the Honorable Brian M. Gibbons, and a jury. William Frick represented appellant. Riley Maxwell and Henry McMaster, Jr. were the assistant solicitors. R. 9.

The jury found appellant guilty of both offenses. R. 404, l. 21- 405, l. 2. Judge Gibbons sentenced appellant to life imprisonment for murder and imposed a ten-year concurrent sentence for hit-and-run involving death. R. 414, ll. 1-7.

This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees that “[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right ... to be confronted with the witnesses against him.” This procedural protection applies in both federal and state prosecutions by virtue of the Fourteenth Amendment. Pointer v. Texas, 380 U.S. 400, 406 (1965).

“A trial court's decision to allow videotaped or closed-circuit testimony is reversible ‘only if it is shown that the trial judge abused his discretion in making such a decision. ...’” State v. Bray, 342 S.C. 23, 27, 535 S.E.2d 636, 639 (2000) (quoting State v. Murrell, 302 S.C. 77, 82, 393 S.E.2d 919, 922 (1990)). “Where there is evidence to support a trial court's ruling, it will not be overturned for an abuse of discretion. Bray, 342 S.C. at 27, 535 S.E.2d at 639.” State v. Johnson, 422 S.C. 439, 449, 812 S.E.2d 739, 744 (Ct. App. 2018).

ARGUMENT

The court erred by allowing state’s witness Tommy Bell to testify remotely, where he was located in Fairfield County where appellant’s trial was being held, since appellant was entitled to live confrontation with this key state’s witness.

Relevant Facts

Prior to trial on March 21, 2022, Assistant Solicitor Maxwell reminded the judge that there had been a “quick hearing” in Chester on March 11, 2022 – about ten days prior to trial—in which there were arguments about the state’s witness Tommy Bell appearing virtually. Maxwell said that Bell was seventy-six-years-old and resided in Pennsylvania. Maxwell offered that Bell “could testify remotely for record purposes.” The trial judge said that defense counsel Frick was protected on the record from his ruling during that “quick hearing” that Bell could testify virtually rather than live.

WebEx remote hearing

The hearing they were placing on the record above was held on March 11, 2022, and it was on Webex. Riley Maxwell was the assistant solicitor at that hearing, and William Frick represented appellant. R. 1.

Maxwell told the judge that Tommy Bell was living in Winnsboro at the time of the incident allegedly giving rise to the present charges, but that Bell had moved back to Pennsylvania where he was originally from. Maxwell said that Bell was “a witness in this case. Mr. Bell’s told me he is unable to travel by car or plane—due to his age and some health issues. We would just ask that he allowed to testify over the virtual courtroom during the trial term. And he can, I believe, tell you some more about his issues, briefly.” R. 2, ll. 14-22.

The following then occurred:

THE COURT: All right. What's the name again?

MR. MAXWELL: Tommy Bell.

THE COURT: All right. Mr. Bell, how you doing today?

MR. BELL: I'm doing okay. And you?

THE COURT: All right. Good. Can you see me?

MR. BELL: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Isn't it weird how we're talking virtually even though you're up in Pennsylvania and I'm down in South Carolina?

MR. BELL: Yes, sir.

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: (Indiscernible) y'all came from.

THE COURT: Well, yeah. I understand. That's just one good thing that came out of COVID is that we have these -- we have different accesses to virtual platforms now to allow things to move forward. So I just got a couple of questions for you.

TOMMY BELL, after being duly sworn, testified as follows:

THE COURT: All right. Now, you heard what the solicitor just told me. Do you wish -- do you -- you wish to testify in this case, but you can't come to South Carolina; is that what you're telling me?

MR. BELL: That's right. That's correct.

THE COURT: Tell me why you're not able to come to South Carolina.

MR. BELL: Because the doctor won't let me call -- come because of my breathing heavy and my health condition.

THE COURT: You can't fly? You cannot fly?

MR. MAXWELL: Yeah, it's on mute, I think.

THE COURT: No. He's fine. Something's happening. Sir, I can't hear you. Did you accidentally hit a button on the phone there? Okay.

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER 2: Turn off the Bluetooth. Bluetooth. He's in the car.

MR. MAXWELL: All right. I think he got it now. (Indiscernible).

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER 2: Hold on, sir. I pulled up and the Bluetooth connected. Hold on, please. Hold on. I don't know how to turn it off.

THE COURT: I'll stay.

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER 2: Okay. There. Go, go, go. Is it (indiscernible). Hello?

THE COURT: Hello.

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER 2: Oh, my gosh, it's still connected. Hold on. I changed it.

MR. MAXWELL: One reason I want to do it this way because --

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: One second. Let me take this (indiscernible).

THE COURT: Mr. Bell, can you hear me?

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Hold on one second. I got to take you off of -- my wife pulled up with the car, and it -- it -- my blue (audio interference).

THE COURT: Okay.

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: My Bluetooth. Hold on one sec.

THE COURT: All right.

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER 2: Can you hear now?

THE COURT: Yeah, I can hear you.

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER 2: Okay.

MR. BELL: All right. Hi. I'm back.

THE COURT: All right. You were telling me you're not able to fly and you can't drive that long or travel that long?

MR. BELL: That's right. That's right.

THE COURT: And that's per your doctor's orders?

MR. BELL: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: All right. What's the Defense's position on this, Mr. Frick?

MR. FRICK: Your Honor, I am concerned. First, we just had some technical issues right there. I am concerned about my client's right to full confrontation. I mean, I understand I can cross-examine Mr. Bell over the technology, but I would prefer it to be in person if possible.

THE COURT: All right. Well, here's what I'm -- I'm going to allow you to testify virtually, Mr. Bell. When the trial comes up, the solicitor will give you --

MR. BELL: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: -- (audio interference) to show up, just like you're doing in this virtual courtroom, and you'll be --

MR. BELL: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: -- (audio interference) in front of a jury in Fairfield County without actually being there. It'll be just like you testified in court, as if you were in court. I'm going to overrule the Defense objection and allow this to happen, based upon the risk to your health and safety. And you're just one witness out of whatever else the State's presenting. So I am going to allow that to happen. Okay?

MR. BELL: All right, sir.

THE COURT: All right. Thank you, sir.

R. 2, l. 23 - 6, l. 11.

Pre-trial hearing continued

Assistant Solicitor Maxwell said at the March 21, 2022 hearing: “[O]nce you open up the virtual courtroom, we’ll have a, I guess a computer here for us to talk into that would be hooked up to the screen. So, the jury will be able to see him, and we might make it where he is the only person on the screen, I think I had that option. Like, if I’m part of your virtual courtroom, it’s an option of who I’m looking at, I can make somebody a big screen versus seeing all parties.” R. 18, ll. 2-22.

The judge then offered that they could test the virtual technology by having the victim’s mother appear virtually “for the purpose of the bond hearing or something. Let’s patch her into the big screen and let’s see how she sounds and how everything coincides.” R. 18, l. 21- 20, l. 1.

The trial

The attorneys revisited this legal issue during the trial. At the conclusion of the testimony of the pathologist, Dr. Rose, the judge sent the jury out of the courtroom. Defense counsel Frick then renewed his objection to allowing Tommy Bell to testify virtually. “I believe he is now in Fairfield County. He is down the road. I would ask that we get him transported here so I can have live testimony...” R. 148, ll. 12-22. Defense counsel Frick also said a chief concern, in addition, was apparently impeaching Bell about a previous statement which “I think this is going to be problematic and very difficult. I’m not exactly sure how we’re going to execute that. I’ve got him queued up and ready to go to attempt it though.” R. 148, ll. 19-24.

The following then occurred between the court, Tommy Bell, sheriff’s deputies, and Defense Counsel:

“Why can't you come to court?”

MR. BELL: I've got -- I've got my back --lower lumbar disc in my back is ruptured. So that's why and my back is all upset and I can't go to court.

THE COURT: All right. And who is sitting there with you?

MR. BELL: We've got two -- there's a --

MR. LEWIS: Judge, it's myself Keith Lewis, Julie Hall and we've got Bill Dove from the sheriff's office, he had a WiFi hotspot that we need.

THE COURT: Did y'all attempt to try to get him in the car to bring him up to the courthouse.

MR. LEWIS: Yes, sir. We tried to get him up out of his chair, but he's in a lot of pain when he tries to move. And he says he's been sitting here at this table for a good while this morning.

THE COURT: Thank you. Based upon my prior ruling, I'm going to allow this witness to testify over the objection of the defense. I'm gonna allow this witness to testify remotely via my virtual courtroom. We'll just deal with the sound issues, the acoustics issues, the best we can. But you're protected in the record Mr. Frick.

MR. FRICK: Thank you, your Honor.”

R. 149, l. 12- 150, l. 10.

The judge again repeated that he was allowing Tommy Bell to testify over defense objection virtually, and that the defense was protected on the record.

Trial evidence

Victim, “Bruce Gibbs,” was hit and run over by an automobile in the early morning hours of September 6, 2020, in Winnsboro. Fairfield County sheriff’s deputy Alan McCoy was working seven p.m. to seven a.m. patrolling Winnsboro on that fatal night. R. 31, l. 6 - 32, l. 19. While driving on Columbia Road near Eleventh Street in Winnsboro, he noticed an automobile that appeared to be driving with only its fog lights on. R. 32, ll. 13-22. When McCoy drove closer to this vehicle, he noticed it had a flat tire on the back right side. R. 33, l. 1 - 34, l. 16. Shortly after

this, McCoy heard over his police radio that a 911 call had identified “a juvenile laying in the roadway.” McCoy then drove towards the “burned down” part of Winnsboro where the body was apparently in the road. R. 36, l. 23 - 38, l. 20.

McCoy noticed a body lying in the road, which was that of victim Bruce Gibbs. McCoy checked the victim’s pulse and found none. He retrieved the victim’s wallet to find his identification, and he noticed the victim’s tennis shoes and cellphone laying nearby. R. 40, l. 15 - 42, l. 16.

Fairfield County sheriff’s deputy Chris Childers remembered the victim’s death was quickly ruled a hit-and-run, and the police immediately began looking for the vehicle responsible. R. 52, l. 11 - 54, l. 23.

Highway patrolman Tyler Holland remembered being dispatched at about one-twenty in the morning to the scene of the hit-and-run. R. 68, ll. 6-24. Holland remembered finding the victim’s shoes, cellphone, and pocketknife, and he also remembered seeing tire tracks going through the grass and a vehicle part that had been left behind at the scene of the hit-and-run. R. 70, l. 13 - 71, l. 19. Holland said the MAIT team was also called in to investigate. R. 74, ll. 9-13.

Earlier that evening, a fish fry was held on Doty Street near Eleventh Street in Winnsboro. It apparently started at about three p.m. Miranda Sawyer was good friends with Felicia Johnson. Felicia’s son, Bruce, was the victim in this case. Miranda remembered the Saturday, September 5, 2020, fish fry which many people attended. R. 91, l. 21 - 94, l. 3. Miranda said the fish fry lasted from about three in the afternoon to ten o’clock that night.

The decedent, Bruce Johnson, was with his girlfriend, Nikki Thompson. Appellant, who went by the name “Gus,” was also at the fish fry. R. 94, ll. 2-21.

Miranda remembered that Nikki and Bruce were having an argument near the mailbox on the road that evening, they were only arguing orally and there was no physical action involved. Miranda said that appellant went to the scene of the argument and said “Bruce, Bruce, Bruce. I’m tired of you arguing with my sister.” The victim, Bruce, responded “I’m tired of you always in our business. Stay out of our business.” Miranda maintained that appellant then said he was going to get Bruce. Bruce apparently responded “we can do it one-on-one. We can get it now. We can do it one-on-one.” R. 96, l. 2 - 97, l. 18.

Appellant then left the party and walked towards his father’s house. R. 97, ll. 22-23. Miranda also testified that appellant drove a black Impala. R. 97, l. 25 - 98, l. 1.

Felicia Johnson also testified that appellant drove a black Impala on the night of the fish fry. R. 111, ll. 1-6. The state’s case was an effort through circumstantial evidence to tie appellant to the 2004 Chevy Impala which police believed was the car involved in the hit-and-run causing the death of the victim, Bruce Gibbs. Dr. Kelly Rose testified that the victim died of skull fractures and bleeding in his brain. He said these injuries were consistent with being hit and run over by a car. Dr. Rose opined the cause of death was blunt force trauma. The victim had a blood alcohol reading of .062, and he had marijuana in his system. R. 127, l. 20 - 136, l. 18.

Virtual testimony of Tommy Bell

Prior to the virtual testimony of Tommy Bell, the trial judge told the jury that they were going to see a state’s witness testify virtually “[v]ia my virtual courtroom. One of the good things that’s arguable, but one of the good things that came about as a result with COVID with the court system, was video court. We were able to move a lot of cases and conduct a lot of business using virtual court.” R. 151, ll. 17-25. The judge also told the jury that there were some problems with acoustics, “there’s reverberations, nobody knows what’s happening, we’re going to try to make

the best of it so listen carefully. Even though this witness is appearing virtually, it's as if—for your purposes, you are to consider his testimony and give it the weight and credibility you believe it deserves even though he may not physically be present testifying. I've already ruled on that as a matter of law. So, I want you to imagine that he is sitting in this witness stand like everybody else testifying. I'm going to swear him in and he's going to be asked questions and I'm hoping this will go smoothly with reverberations and the acoustics, we'll try and make the best of it.” R. 152, ll. 1-17.

Tommy Bell testified he was seventy-six-years-old. He said he was from South Carolina but had moved to Pennsylvania to be with his son for a while but had now moved back to South Carolina. R. 153, l. 11 - 154, l. 1.

Bell said in September 2020, he was living on Blair Circle, number 23, in Winnsboro. Bell said he knew appellant, who they called “Gus.” R. 154, ll. 2-22. Bell said appellant lived next door to him for a year or two before he was convicted. R. 154, l. 7 - 155, l. 18.

Bell said he talked with appellant a lot, and they sat on the porch together when appellant lived next door to him. R. 155, ll. 19-25.

Bell said on the evening of September 5, 2020, appellant came over to visit his house between eleven and eleven-thirty, and Bell maintained appellant was trying to get a gun. R. 156, ll. 1-22. Bell said appellant was driving a black Chevy Impala at the time. Bell also claimed appellant told him that he was going “to kill my grandson. I told him, I said, ‘well, what’s going on?’”

The following also occurred with Bell:

“He said, well, he had called his sister a bitch, so I assumed -- before I said nothing, I said, ‘Did you talk to his momma?’ He said, no, he hadn't talked to her. So I told him, ‘Well, go back over there and talk to his momma. His momma get that straight.’ So he said, ‘No, sir.

I'm not gonna do that.' He said, 'I'm not gonna do this here.' I made sure that he had left about 12:00 or 12 o'clock that night.

Q. When he said he was going to kill your grandson, do you know who he was referring to?

A. Yes, sir. Referring about my grandson, Bruce.

Q. Bruce Gibbs?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did he say anything else about what his intentions were that night towards your grandson?

A. Well, he didn't say no more about it because like I said after 12 After there, he went after 12 -- after 12, he left, he and his sister came back around because she was in her vehicle and he was in his following with them. So he came back -- took about five minutes and he came back.

Q. And that was all around midnight, before midnight?

A. Yes, sir. Yes, sir.

Q. Just to jump back to make sure we're covering what he said to you. You mentioned something about a gun earlier. What did he say about a gun?

A. Yeah. He asked, did I know anybody he could get a gun from? When he said that, I told him, 'No.' He said he was trying to get one from his dad, step-dad. And after that, like I was saying, I don't think his step-dad even have a gun.

Q. Did he mention anything on what he would do if he wasn't able to find a gun?

A. No, sir. He didn't mention nothing else. He just said he was going to kill him about midnight that night."

R. 157, ll. 12 - 158, ll. 25.

Bell said he did not take appellant seriously, apparently because he thought appellant had been drinking. R. 159, ll. 1-10. Bell said he called his daughter. Bell recalled "[s]o he left a

voicemail saying he was going to kill her son. I let her know he [appellant] was going to kill Bruce, her son.” The following then occurred between the solicitor and Bell by virtual testimony:

“Q. Did you make any effort to let anybody know what he had told you?

A. Yes, sir. I called my daughter. My fiancé, she called my daughter and told my daughter, but she wasn't at home. She was probably at POPS, so we left a voicemail saying he said he was going to kill her son. I let her know he was going to kill Bruce, her son.

Q. Do you remember finding out about Bruce being killed?

A. Yes, sir. My daughter, Felicia, she had called me and told me that did, I know Bruce is dead. I said, no, I don't. But on the day, after I got up and got dressed and went over to my daughter's house. Then that's when I find out, he did get ran over with the car.

Q. Did you provide at that time, tell your daughter and other family members what Mr. Thompson had told you the night before?

A. Yes, sir. I sure did.

Q. Did you and someone also talk with the highway patrol when they were investigating this case?

A. Yes, sir. I sure did.

Q. Did you tell them what Mr. Thompson told you that night at your house?

A. I definitely did. I sure did.

Q. Do you recall if he said anything about, it might end up in the paper or the media?

A. No, sir. I don't remember that.

Q. How was Mr. Thompson acting? What was your observation of how he was acting when his arrived at your house?

A. Well, he was doing a lot of staring and he was sweating a lot, you know, head, so I figured that he must have been high off of something, you know? I don't know what it was, but he was acting high on something.

Q. When he left your house, was he driving the black Impala?

A. That's right."

R. 159, l. 11 - 160, l. 23.

On cross-examination, defense counsel Frick asked Bell if he had told a highway patrolman that this incident happened on a Thursday night. Bell said the incident happened on a Saturday night, not a Thursday night. Bell refused to admit that he told the highway patrolman that incident happened on a Thursday night and not a Saturday. Bell said he did recall the statement to the trooper saying that appellant told him "That your grandson will be dead between twelve and one."

R. 162, ll. 20-23.

During this cross-examination, there was an apparent problem with the virtual testimony. The judge mentioned "low bandwidth" and told Bell to not leave while they switched computers.

R. 162, l. 24 - 163, l. 9. The following then occurred:

"THE COURT: Low bandwidth. Mr. Bell, can you hear me? Stay with us, don't leave.

MR. FRICK: Mr. Bell, can you hear me?

THE COURT: Come stand right in front of me.

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