**RECEIVED**

**Feb 15 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

Appeal from Fairfield County  
The Honorable Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

TIMOTHY JAMES THOMPSON,

APPELLANT.

Appellate Case No. 2022-000397

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 14244

J. ANTHONY MABRY  
Senior Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 11973

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-6305

HON. RANDY E. NEWMAN, JR.  
Solicitor, Sixth Judicial Circuit

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

Id.

Similarly, the witness in United States v. Benson was “elderly and infirm” and the Sixth Circuit allowed her to testify via videoconferencing technology. United States v. Benson, 79 Fed. Appx. 813, 820–21 (6th Cir. 2003). The Court cited to United States v. Gigante, 166 F.3d 75, 80 (2d. Cir. 1999) that live closed-circuit testimony preserved all of the characteristics of in-court testimony which made it reliable under Craig. Benson, 166 F.3d at 820-21. *See also* Spinks v. State, 260 A.3d 726 (2021).

Here in this present case, the State met the 2<sup>nd</sup> prong of the Craig test, reliability. Mr. Bell was placed under oath; the jury could see him and observe his demeanor; and, he was cross-examined by Thompson’s counsel live and impeached. (R. 150-64; 235-37 [playing of Mr. Bell’s prior statement to police to the jury]). While there were a few technological glitches, as the trial court warned the jury, each attorney was able to re-ask any questions that needed to be asked and

---

<sup>3</sup> Commonwealth v. Atkinson, 987 A.2d 743, 745 & n.2 (Pa. Super. 2009) (citation and footnote omitted).

answered by Mr. Bell. (R. 150-64). Mr. Bell was fully examined on direct, cross-examination, and re-direct. (R. 153-64). Defense counsel was not prohibited from asking any questions that needed to be asked or re-asked. (R. 153-64). Finally, defense counsel impeached the witness about the video recording of the witness' statement to police and played a portion of that video for the jury, which was defense counsel's main concern about the live video testimony. (R. 148, ll. 19-24; 161-63; 235-37). And, counsel impeached the witness about other matters, including using State's witness' Nikki to contradict Mr. Bell about part of his testimony. (R. 161-630; 178-79).

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the live video feed testimony of Mr. Tommy Bell where both elements of the Craig test were met, necessity and reliability. The witness, Mr. Bell, testified under oath to the necessity of his testifying via *My Virtual Courtroom*; the trial court held a hearing regarding whether there was proper necessity to allow live remote testimony including taking testimony under oath; the trial court made a specific finding of necessity supported by the witness' sworn testimony and verification by those present with the witness at the time; and, the live remote testimony before the jury preserved the hallmarks of reliability under Craig.

#### ***Harmless Error***

In Johnson, even though this Court found the admission of the video testimony violated the Confrontation Clause without any necessity for the witness not being at trial, the error was still harmless. Johnson. This Court pointed out that: “[V]iolation of a defendant's Sixth Amendment right to confront the witness is not *per se* reversible error; instead, this Court must determine whether the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.” Id., quoting State v. Davis, 371 S.C. 170, 181, 638 S.E.2d 57, 63 (2006). And: “whether an error is harmless depends on the particular circumstances of the case.” Johnson, again quoting Davis, *supra*. Error is harmless if it could not

have reasonably affected the result of the trial. Id. at 181-82, 638 S.E.2d at 63. This Court stated as follows in finding the confrontation clause violation in Johnson was harmless.

We are cognizant that Johnson's confession was an important piece of evidence in this case. Likewise, we recognize the admission of his confession turned on a finding of voluntariness that must be proven by the State through its witnesses and evidence. In this case, Investigator Coker's testimony plus the recordings of Johnson's interrogation met this burden. Investigator Moore's testimony was only relevant to events *not* presented by the videos or covered by Investigator Coker. Johnson does not allege wrongdoing by Investigator Moore other than through conduct contained in the videos.<sup>7</sup> Consequently, Investigator Moore's testimony was largely cumulative to what was already before the jury. *See State v. Haselden*, 353 S.C. 190, 197, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448-49 (2003) (recognizing admission of improper evidence is harmless where the evidence is merely cumulative to other evidence). Accordingly, because the circuit court's erroneous decision to permit Investigator Moore to testify via Skype was harmless, we affirm the admission of that testimony.

Johnson, 422 S.C. at 453-54, 812 S.E.2d at 746-47, footnote omitted. Likewise in State v. Oliver, 112 N.E.3d 573, 580-82 (Ohio Ct. App. 2018), the Court found it was error to allow the victim's sister to testify via *Skype* without any showing of necessity, but the error was harmless given the entire record and the cumulative nature of the evidence).

Here, even assuming *arguendo*, a Confrontation Clause violation, and removing from consideration Mr. Bell's testimony, considering all of the other evidence of Thompson's guilt, Bell's testimony was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Johnson. Several witnesses testified to the altercation between Thompson and Victim at Felicia's home just a few hours before Victim's death; 2 other witnesses testified to threats made by Thompson to Victim in those witnesses' presence; another witness testified to Thompson's attempt to obtain a gun to carry out the threats including Thompson was willing to trade his car for a gun and this was about an hour or less before Victim's murder, and a portion of the recorded interview of Mr. Bell with police was played before the jury; therefore, Bell's testimony was cumulative to other properly admitted evidence. Johnson.

And, Thompson's guilt was firmly established through eyewitness' testimony, Thompson's statement, surveillance video, and evidence found at the scene and on and in his car.

Multiple witnesses who were friends of Thompson, including his sister [Victim's girlfriend], testified to being present at the "fish fry" when Victim and Nikki got into an argument and Thompson injected himself into that argument. Two (2) independent witnesses testified they heard Thompson threaten Victim in the front yard of Victim's mother's home. Other witnesses confirmed there was an altercation between Thompson and Victim in the front yard of Victim's mother's home and Victim's mother had to separate the 2 men. Thompson then walked home but returned shortly and retrieved his car, the 2004, black, Chevy Impala, the murder weapon. Thompson drove away from the "fish fry" in the dark early model Impala. (R. 91-120; 166-83; 153-64; 237-38).

While Mr. Bell's testimony may not be considered in the harmless error analysis, a portion of his taped video-recorded statement to police was played at trial for the jury. (R. 235-37). Based on a review of the record, in that tape recording, Bell tells the investigator about a week after the murder, that Thompson was at his house on Thursday [sic] night and threatened to kill Bell's grandson. (R. 153-64; 235-37). Bell and his fiancé then called his daughter, Felicia [Victim's mother] and left a message on her answering machine about the threat. (R. 153-64; 235-37). Felicia testified at trial about finding out there was contact between Thompson and her father around midnight. Felicia either listened to her answering machine or talked to Mr. Bell or his fiancé in the early morning hours of September 6<sup>th</sup> after notification of Victim's death and contacted police sometime after 4:00 a.m. with the information she had received [the threats against her son] and that police needed to look at Thompson as a suspect or person of interest in Victim's death and Thompson was driving a 2004 Impala. (R. 104-20; 214-16; 235-37).

The officer who received this information from Felicia also testified at trial and corroborated Felicia's testimony about providing police the information she received from her father about Thompson being involved in her son's death. (R. 214-16; 104-20; 235-37).

Thompson next appeared at Calvin Sampson's home between 12:00 a.m. and 1:00 a.m. trying to purchase a gun. This was just a few hours after Thompson threatened Victim at the "fish fry." At this time, at Mr. Sampson's home, Thompson was willing to trade his car to get a gun, but Calvin Sampson did not have a gun and told Thompson so. Thompson then drove away from Mr. Sampson's residence in his 2004 black Chevy Impala without a gun to harm Victim and only his car to use as a weapon. This was shortly before Victim was killed by being run over with Thompson's car. (R. 183-92).

Thompson left Mr. Sampson's home and drove to POPS convenience store. At this time, he was captured on surveillance video at the store wearing a distinctive shirt and driving the dark 2004 Chevy Impala without the spare tire on the right rear. You cannot see a flat tire either at this time. Thompson then left POPS convenience store driving his Impala headed back the direction he came at approximately 12:45 to 12:50 a.m. on September 6<sup>th</sup>. This was in the direction of where Victim was walking from. (R. 225-30; 235; State's Ex. 8).

Video surveillance in the area where Victim was struck and landed, combined with other evidence, shows Thompson's car went up 11<sup>th</sup> Street slowly coming from the direction of POPS convenience store. Video surveillance also shows Victim was walking on the opposite side of the road from Thompson's car headed in the direction of his girlfriend Nikki's apartment. Video surveillance also shows Thompson's vehicle turned around and came back the way Victim was walking. Additionally, Calvin Sampson had gone to POPS to get some cigarettes and on his way back from POPS he also witnessed Thompson's vehicle coming back on 11<sup>th</sup> street now headed

the same way Victim was walking. At this time, Calvin Sampson noticed Thompson's car was running "wide open" and jumped the bridge and ran off its' right side of the road. Mr. Sampson did not see Thompson hit Victim with his car because Sampson and Thompson were going in opposite directions, but Sampson believed Thompson hit a fence when he drove off the road at a high rate of speed. Video surveillance also captured Thompson driving off the road and striking Victim in this same area. The physical evidence also showed Thompson drove all the way off the marked portion of the roadway and the right wheels were in the grass when Thompson struck Victim with his 2004 black Chevy Impala. The curb and sidewalk contained marks consistent with the vehicle striking each before coming into contact with Victim; and, Thompson' car striking the curb or sidewalk or coming back onto the road was consistent with Thompson having damaged or flattened Thompson's right rear tire. Also, debris in the road and Victim's injuries showed he was struck by the Impala and landed 126 feet from where he was struck. The speed of the Impala when it struck Victim was approximately 47 m.p.h. The speed limit was 35 m.p.h. In the debris field was a broken clip to an automobile headlight. Mr. Sampson saw the driver of the Impala trying to control the vehicle after driving off the road and saw it headed toward or turning on Columbia Road headed toward POPS convenience store. When Calvin Sampson reached home, he told others that the driver of that dark vehicle was going to kill someone. ((R. 31-48; 49-58; 59-66; 68-78; 79-91; 183-92; 252-87; 287-99; 299-334; 123-148; State's Ex 13 [channels 1 and 2])).

Deputy McCoy saw Thompson's vehicle on 11<sup>th</sup> Street just after it struck Victim and McCoy passed Thompson's vehicle going in the opposite direction and saw the Impala with what looked like only its' fog lights on. The Deputy turned around and was going to stop the vehicle until he was able to pull up beside it at a traffic light and saw the headlights were on but dim. The Deputy noticed the Impala had tinted windows in which the tint was bubbling up on the windows

and the right rear passenger side tire was flat. The Deputy also noticed that both right wheels did not have rims on them. He then saw the car turn left and looked to be going to POPS convenience store to put air in the right rear passenger tire. Almost immediately, the Deputy was called to the crime scene on 11<sup>th</sup> Street and informed other officers about the dark Impala he had seen. (R. 31-48; 215-16).

Approximately 15 to 20 minutes later another Deputy Sheriff saw Thompson's vehicle pulled over on the side of the road headed away from Winnsboro, and Thompson was changing the back rear passenger tire by replacing it with a spare tire. Thompson told the Deputy he was finishing up changing the tire and was putting the tools away. The Deputy was able to see the car and his in-car video captured the car. That Deputy was unaware of what Thompson had done but was able to testify at trial to seeing Thompson working on the car shortly after Victim's murder, shortly after Thompson struck the sidewalk and damaged his car, and shortly after Deputy McCoy saw the car at the traffic light with a flat back rear passenger side tire. (R. 240-251).

The following day, police found Thompson's 2004 black Chevy Impala abandoned at the *Flying J. Truckstop* next to I-20. The registration came back to Thompson. The vehicle had impact damage to the front grille and the front hood. Someone had also poured bleach on the hood and front windshield to remove evidence from the vehicle; bleach was running down the sides of the vehicle as well, and a bottle of bleach was later found in the back passenger compartment of the vehicle. The windows of the vehicle also had tint that was bubbling up on the passenger side and no rims on the passenger side just as Deputy McCoy had seen around 1:00 a.m. There was also a spare tire on the passenger side rear that contained the wording "spare tire" in yellow. The car was towed to Winnsboro for a further search where police found the passenger side headlight was being held in place under the hood by a tie wrap and the clip that normally held up this headlight was

missing. Police were also able to match the broken clip found at the crime scene in the debris field to the clip on the driver's side headlight of Thompson's Impala. Police also took photographs of Thompson's vehicle showing the jury where the broken clip would have gone instead of the tie wrap. (R. 193-208; 220-24; 252-334).

Thompson did not turn himself in for at least 3 days. He then turned himself in only to Columbia police at the *Flying J. Truckstop*. The same *Flying J. Truckstop* where he had abandoned the car 3 days earlier after killing Victim. He told police he was wanted for a crime by the Winnsboro authorities. (R. 228-29; 193-208; 325-27; 333-34; 359-60; State's Ex. 18 [Defendant's recorded statement]).

Thompson was also interviewed by the police in Winnsboro. (State's Ex. 18; R. 325-27). He admitted to pretty much everything but running over Victim. He admitted he was driving his 2004 black Impala the night of the crime. He admitted no one else drove his car the night of the crime. He admitted he was alone. He admitted he was the person on the surveillance video at POPS convenience store and that was him driving the Impala on the video. He also admitted it was he who was changing his tire when the Deputy stopped to help him, and he was the person who turned left at the traffic light next to POPS when the right rear tire was flat. He also admitted there should be a flat tire somewhere on Hwy. 34. Further, he admitted he was extremely upset the night of the crime about something, and it took him approximately 3 hours to calm down. (State's Ex. 18; R. 325-27).

As stated, Thompson was proven guilty of the crimes and other witnesses heard and testified to Thompson and Victim arguing, Thompson threatening Victim or wanting to trade his car for a gun right before Victim was killed; Felcia and a police officer testified to Felicia making police aware of Thompson's probable involvement in her son's murder, and a portion of Bell's

interview with police was played to the jury making Bell’s testimony cumulative in any event. Finally, Thompson in his statement admitted he was the only person who drove his car the night of the murder and he was angry about something the night of the murder and it took him several hours to calm down. As a result, even if there was some Confrontation Clause violation it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Johnson, *supra* (finding confrontation clause violation harmless); Stevenson v. State, 357 So. 3d 1141, 1154–57 (Miss. Ct. App. 2023)(similar); Molina v. State, 2018 WL 3150419, at \*3–6 (Tex. App. June 28, 2018)(*Unpublished*)(similar).

### CONCLUSION

For all of the above stated reasons, Thompson’s convictions and sentences must be affirmed and this appeal denied and dismissed.